














[image: muder at Wrotham Hill by Diana Souhami]


[image: Quercus]




First published in Great Britain in 2012 by


Quercus Editions Ltd


55 Baker Street


Seventh Floor, South Block


London


W1U 8EW


Copyright © 2012 Diana Souhami


Maps © William Donohoe


The moral right of Diana Souhami to be identified as the author of this work has been asserted in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act, 1988.


All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.


Every effort has been made to contact copyright holders of material reproduced in this book. If any have been inadvertently overlooked, the publishers will be pleased to make restitution at the earliest opportunity.


A CIP catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library


ISBN HB 978 0 85738 283 2
ISBN TPB 978 0 85738 284 9
ISBN EBOOK 978 85738 422 5


You can find this and many other great books at:
www.quercusbooks.co.uk




To my mother Freda Marie Souhami 1911–2006






dead is dead yes dead is really dead yes to be dead is to be really dead yes to be dead is to be really dead


Gertrude Stein


An eye for an eye makes the whole world blind


Mahatma Gandhi







1
THE CRIME
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The Shoe


A woman’s shoe, flat and dark blue, lay on the grass verge two feet from the kerb halfway up Wrotham* Hill in Kent. The hill was steep, the weather cold and showery. At noon on Thursday 31 October 1946 Joe Hammond, a driver for the London Paper Mills on his way from Aylesford to Dartford taking six tons of baled paper from one mill to another, saw the shoe. He double declutched his lorry into first gear. The shoe, like the corpse of a dog, suggested a casualty of traffic. Hammond wondered if there were other signs of trouble. He stopped his lorry. The shoe looked new. If he found the other they might do for his wife Nada. She and Joe had married five years previously and now had two children, Julia four and Kenneth sixteen months.


The shoe was for the right foot, blue, flat, a mix of leather and suede, new, size 6, the maker’s name Oral embossed in gold italics inside with the style number: A12146. Oral was a good make. They had a large factory in Rushden in Northamptonshire, the country’s main shoe-manufacturing town. There were over a hundred boot and shoe factories up there. Nada took a 6. A pair of Oral shoes might cost £2 10s and use up five clothing coupons. Rationing was tighter than ever since the war’s end. A chance find was not to be passed by.


The grass looked trampled, the hedgerow disturbed. Hammond parted the brambles. He saw a woman’s legs. The toes of her right foot stuck out through a torn stocking, her left leg was bent, on its foot was the other shoe. Her face was half covered by the top of her coat, her coat and dress rucked up, her right fist clenched. Damp leaves had fluttered down on her from autumn trees. The stillness of this crumpled discarded corpse riveted into his memory with other detail of the moment: the susurrus of tyres on the wet road, the smell of wet foliage, his own alarm and exhalation of breath. This was murder, that he knew.


He took his lorry up the hill to the nearby village of Kingsdown,* to a phone box near the Portobello Inn. He told the operator at the local exchange what he had seen. She put him through to the Maidstone police station. An officer asked him to spell his name, give the number of the phone, the location of the body. ‘Wait by the phone box,’ was his instruction. ‘Someone will come.’ Hammond phoned his works manager and told him what had happened, then sat on a bench by the kiosk, holding the shoe.


Joe Hammond


No policeman came, the rain drizzled down, this was not how Joe Hammond had planned his day. He lived in Dartford and had hoped to be home early. Now he had a corpse in his head and explaining to do.


He was thirty-seven, tallish, sturdy, broad-shouldered and with wavy brown hair. He was a Londoner, born and brought up in Stepney. His father had worked as a ship labourer at the Limehouse docks, loading and unloading cargo. In his prime Joe played outside right for Queen’s Park Rangers and his picture was in the papers for the goals he scored: seven in twenty-one matches between 1933 and 1936. Now he was a family man with a living to earn and football was only a spectator sport.


He waited. He did not sit in his lorry in case the phone rang in the telephone kiosk. The war had been over for eighteen months. King George had told them the years of darkness and danger were ended and urged them to ‘make the world such a world as you desire for your children’. There was supposed to be an end to fear at the siren’s wail, the lust for killing.


Half an hour passed. Hammond again phoned the Maidstone police. He said he could not sit by the phone box all day in the cold and rain, he had a delivery to make, he needed to leave. He was given directions to the home of PC King, the Kingsdown policeman, instructed to go there, give him the shoe and make a written statement of what he had seen.


Mrs King told him her husband was out on his bicycle somewhere in the village, she did not know where. She expected him back for his lunch. Joe Hammond drank her tea. Mrs King thought the dead woman might be local. Three months previously, five miles away in woodland near the village of Fawkham Green, a man walking his dog found the body of eleven-year-old Sheila Martin. She had been raped, then strangled with her own hairband. Chief Inspector Fabian of Scotland Yard and Detective Superintendent Smeed of the Kent CID worked together on that case. They were unsuccessful. The Kingsdown villagers believed a local boy murdered the Martin girl. Several said they saw her at a motorcycle race at Brands Hatch with a boy in long grey flannel trousers and a tan jacket. But lots of the boys dressed like that. It was the fashion.


Fabian questioned all the boys, but if anyone had seen something suspicious or noticed unusual behaviour, he was keeping it to himself. The ‘golden hours’ when the crime was fresh passed. Fabian checked such evidence as there was – fingerprints, hair, semen – with the Criminal Record Office. Nothing came up. He was a thorough man, a true professional, a tactician and good on clues. But he needed interlocking bits of the jigsaw: a scarf with the maker’s label, a receipt, something to start piecing a picture, something to follow. The case eluded him. He had a profile but no evidence. The killer was a stranger, the motive sexual, the trail led nowhere. A murderer was out there somewhere and perhaps had struck again.


PC King came home for his lunch, took a statement from Joe Hammond and wrapped the shoe in cellophane. Serious crime was not his domain. Now peace had come to Kingsdown crime had shifted from infringement of blackout regulations and suspicion of draft dodging to cheating on the black market and selling potatoes at below the recommended price. There was the recent case when the car carrying the Maharajah of Jaipur to Leeds Castle crashed on the London Road by the Portobello Inn . . . But a body in the bushes at Wrotham Hill was for officers superior to him.


Sergeant Pettitt


Neither Joe Hammond nor PC King knew it, but Sergeant Thomas Pettitt from Maidstone headquarters had reached the crime scene on his motorcycle within ten minutes of the emergency call. The days of isolated local policing ended in Kent in April 1943, when all the county’s forces merged into a single police authority: the Kent County Constabulary. Now there was a chain of law enforcement. But there was little money for technology and communicating with villages remained slow. It was not like London’s Scotland Yard with their information room and Flying Squad equipped with a fleet of radio cars with transmitters in the boot and loudspeakers, controls and microphones on the dashboard.


Sergeant Pettitt inspected the corpse. He touched nothing and tried not to disturb branches or brambles. First the victim must be certified dead. From a nearby police phone box he called his senior officers and Dr Norman Hay-Bolton, who lived at West House, a Georgian mansion in the main street of Wrotham. Dr Hay-Bolton served as GP for the surrounding villages. Once a week he held morning surgery at Kingsdown, then another in Farningham in the afternoon.


Thomas Pettitt was a Maidstone man, the son of a plumber, and he knew the area well. The summit of Wrotham Hill was a favoured beauty spot for trippers and picnickers. All sorts of strangers visited. The hill was renowned for its views high over the Kent Weald and Downs. Gypsies had set up camp there not long back with their caravans but the residents of Wrotham complained and the gypsies were soon moved on. Behind the hedgerows where the corpse lay, a tortuous path called Labour-in-Vain Road wound up to the summit. A ravine adjacent to the lane was known as Devil’s Kitchen.


Labour-in-Vain Road, Devil’s Kitchen, a corpse in the bushes and a wet and windy October day. They were dark portents in this tranquil rural setting.


Sergeant Pettitt stood guard and waited for his superior officers and the doctor. The village of Wrotham lay in the valley at the foot of the chalk hills. It featured in the Domesday Book, William the Conqueror’s land survey of England. Then, it was owned by the Archbishop of Canterbury and had a church, three mills, acres of meadow and dense woodland where hundreds of pigs rooted for beechnuts. Their owners paid taxes to the archbishop for grazing rights for these pigs.


Dr Norman Hay-Bolton arrived at the crime scene at 1.30pm. The woman had no pulse. He certified her dead. He saw she was middle-aged. There were marks of strangling, but he did not disturb her clothing or investigate further for fear of destroying police evidence or compromising the post-mortem.


The Crime Scene


Police gathered. This, it seemed certain, was a capital crime, an event of national concern. A manhunt must ensue. Inspector Wood from the West Malling police station cordoned off the hedgerow and road adjacent to where the body lay and sent Sergeant Pettitt to PC King’s house in Kingsdown to collect the shoe Joe Hammond had found on the verge.


Detective Superintendent Frank Smeed of the Kent Criminal Investigation Division arrived at three in the afternoon with Detective Inspector Jenner. Jenner noted the position of the body, a hairnet caught in the brambles, a skein of blue wool with hair grips and hair in it lying among twigs and leaves, shreds of lisle stocking. Detective Inspector Henry England from Maidstone photographed the body, the bushes, the hill, the shards and shreds of what might be evidence and the road newly widened, asphalted and painted with broken white lines for three traffic lanes. Back in his darkroom he made prints from the negatives and marked the precise position of the corpse on an Ordnance Survey map.


Smeed summoned the Home Office pathologist, Dr Keith Simpson, then, mindful of the murder of the Martin girl, phoned Chief Inspector Fabian, who agreed to head this case too. He and Smeed arranged to meet at West Malling police station that evening. Fabian reserved rooms for himself and his assistant, Detective Sergeant Harry Rawlings, at The Bull, Wrotham, a fifteenth-century inn with oak-beamed ceilings, log fires and substantial breakfasts.


At 6.15pm Dr Cedric Keith Simpson, the Home Office pathologist, arrived at the crime scene. Before doing an autopsy he first needed to examine the body in situ. He worked by the headlights of police cars. He recorded the temperature of the corpse and its exact position. He collected loose bits of hair and earth for analysis and checked that Henry England’s photographs were adequate. He noted the woman was fully clothed, including a winter coat, but without a hat or gloves or her right shoe. She lay on her back on the ground, screened by a bramble bush. Her head faced east, her arms lay by her side, the left one bent inwards slightly at the elbow. There was no disarrangement of her clothing to suggest sexual assault. Her coat was torn and there were deep scratches on her right leg.


Simpson thought she had been killed elsewhere and her body hauled, dragged then dumped in these bushes. The tears and scratches looked as if made by the barbed wire that fenced the hedgerow. He and Smeed agreed she might have lain undetected for much longer had it not been for Joe Hammond’s curiosity about the shoe lying on the verge. The A20 was for traffic, not pedestrians, and Labour-in-Vain Road was the other side of a steep overgrown bank. Simpson confirmed the woman had been strangled and asked for her body to be taken to Borough Green mortuary three miles away so he could carry out an autopsy. Speed was important and he would work into the night.


Dr Simpson


Strangulation, Keith Simpson told his readers in his soon to be published textbook of forensic medicine, was ‘one of the most fascinating chapters in forensic medicine. For it is impossible to strangle oneself: as you lose consciousness your hands relax their grip. The same thing happens if you tie a ligature round your neck.’


‘Vagueness and theory have no place in forensic medicine,’ he wrote. The precision of incontrovertible empirical evidence was his concern. His attention to detail was absolute, his focus unswerving. No man could have written more exuberantly about strangling, hanging, wounding, abortion and corrosive poisons. He illustrated his textbook copiously with photographs of crushed skulls, pistol and stab wounds, decomposed corpses and semen stains on trouser buttons. He expressed not a shiver of recoil at the cruelty and grotesque deeds of the perpetrators of violent crime.


Born in 1907, Cedric Keith Simpson was thirty-nine at the time of this murder at Wrotham Hill. He became a doctor because his father was one – an old-fashioned GP who bought a practice in Brighton and drove round with a deaf chauffeur in a black Buick to see patients in their homes.


Keith Simpson trained at Guy’s Hospital in London and became a senior lecturer in pathology when he was twenty-five. He married a nurse, Mary Buchanan, and they lived in Tring in the Hertfordshire countryside with their son and two daughters.


At first at Guy’s in the 1930s he did most of the post-mortems, including those on unnatural deaths reported to the Southwark coroner, Douglas Cowburn. Medico-legal crime cases went to Simpson’s senior, the forensic pathologist Bernard Spilsbury. But then Cowburn and Spilsbury had a falling out about the fee for an autopsy on conjoined twins. Cowburn paid Spilsbury a single fee for his work. Spilsbury argued there were two bodies and he had examined both. A feud ensued and in 1934 Cowburn asked the superintendent of Guy’s, Sir Herbert Eason, to allow him to use Simpson as his chosen pathologist instead of Spilsbury. A title was created especially for him: supervisor of medico-legal post-mortems.


Forty Years of Murder, as Simpson called his autobiography, followed. His reputation grew and by the time of the Wrotham Hill case he combined his Home Office and university work with writing and a Harley Street practice.


‘It is curious,’ he wrote, ‘that many people, even some doctors, dislike looking at a dead body.’




A well-known London surgeon can hardly bear to go to the mortuary. Even when he can be persuaded to enter the post-mortem room he stands well off, handkerchief over nose and mouth, muttering incomprehensibly and indeed seldom seeing what he has come to see.





No such shrinking afflicted Simpson. There was not an orifice, secretion or mangled remain from which he recoiled. Few doctors, he averred, could enjoy a more exciting life than his: ‘such a challenge to be constantly on the qui vive or should it be the qui meure?’


He said that in the courts he met ‘colourful slices of vivid life’ – all kinds of doctors, detectives, policemen, prostitutes, barmen, old lags, ‘distinguished lawyers and drug-addicted layabouts’.




It’s so different from looking into ears or throats muttering ‘Say Ah’ or ‘Now breathe in’, handling distasteful skin diseases or trying to persuade hysterical women they haven’t got cancer. The smell? No worse than the unwashed. Harrowing? There is, as H.E. Bates wrote, ‘a beauty of the dead’. And wasn’t it John Wesley who wrote:





Ah, lovely appearance of Death


What sight upon earth is so fair?


Not all the gay pageants that breathe


Can with a dead body compare.


His patients, he said, never complained, and if their symptoms proved perplexing he could always put them back in the fridge and return to them later. And though his job involved tipping out at all hours, standing around with dead bodies in ditches, fields, sheds and filthy rooms, and though he had to dance to the tune of judges and lawyers, he considered the rewards great. It was, as he put it, all ‘so different from catching the 8.15 to the office in the City every day; or from looking down throats and examining smelly feet.’


He was a man with a moral imperative to do his job well. To this murder at Wrotham Hill he brought more than a decade of accumulated experience. There was no taking sides, no evasion, no dwelling on the concepts of good and evil. His sole intention was to present his medical observations and deductions to the police and the courts. It was for them to follow the process of the law. If he had opinions on justice, mercy, punishment and the psychological forces that compelled people into wrongdoing, he did not voice them.


The Autopsy


The mortuary at Borough Green was a small makeshift building with a corrugated-iron roof, beside the fire station. In 1943 both buildings had been hit by an anti-aircraft shell in a blast that short-circuited the air-raid alarm which then sounded for hours.


The dead woman’s eyes were blue-grey, her top teeth protruded, she had a small healed scar under her left nostril. There was no identification on her, no labels on her clothes, no bag, purse or keys. The intent of the killer was unclear. Her clothes were drab and suggested she was poor: a pink woollen vest, dark blue rayon frock, blue and beige jumper, a home-made coat. A net, now torn from her head, had kept her hair in place. She had working hands, the knuckles gnarled. By examining her bones and cartilage Simpson gauged her age as about fifty. She was unmarried. There was no impression on her finger from a wedding ring that might have been stolen for its gold. She was a virgin, or not, in his words, deflorate. Her hymen had not been ruptured by any penetration, masturbatory or medical. There was no bruising, scratching or tearing of the vulva or hymen, no seminal fluid.


She had been strangled with an untied ligature. There was no mark from a knot. Simpson surmised that a folded cloth had been held tight at an unusually high level on her neck. The impressions of the folds had left four distinct lines across the front of her neck and also at the sides, particularly on the right. These marks faded toward the back of her neck. They showed she had been strangled from behind and from the left. There was no weave or pattern from the ligature. Simpson therefore surmised the cloth had been plain. The high level of the marks meant the woman had collapsed or been forced forward on to her knees. She did not appear to have struggled. There were no bruises that suggested an attempt to restrain her, no skin under her nails to suggest she scratched her assailant in self-defence.


Actions leave traces: footprints, the shedding of hair or spit, the disturbance of grass. He read the precise clues that might reconstruct this wrongdoing. He estimated the time of her murder at between 7 and 9am that day. A clothed corpse, he wrote, cools at about 2½ degrees for the first six hours. Over twelve hours the cooling averages out to 1½ – 2 degrees.


It had been a strong strangling. But he calculated it might only have taken fifteen or twenty seconds. There was little evidence of asphyxia: ‘Reserves of oxygen are slender. Struggling or convulsions may quickly use them up. Vagal inhibitory mechanism supervenes and its effects are superimposed on those of asphyxia or even anticipates them.’ Fear, he suggested, had stopped her heart. Time was of forensic importance. A grip of fifteen to twenty seconds that caused death was very different from persistent pressure for four to five minutes. With such speedy killing circumstantial evidence was required to establish intention.


Simpson had taught his students how unintentional strangulation could be. He had observed deaths caused by a scarf, a rope, a piece of bedding, a strap or stocking – twisted once or twice round the neck, drawn tight, held or tied – in the time it took to pour a cup of tea. It was so easy: a surge of anger, a loss of control and a life extinguished. At inquests he had given evidence of erotic masochistic experiments in binding and hanging that ended in death. ‘A tie slips and tightens on the neck and the vagal reflex follows.’


One of his corpses, a woman of sixty-three, had died the moment her husband put his hands on her neck and threatened to strangle her. In court the man told of his years of nursing her, how he shopped, cooked, did the housework, and received nothing from her but nagging. His patience broke on the day when he trod on a corn on her toe as he got her out of bed and she called him a clumsy blundering fool. Simpson’s autopsy showed no signs of strangulation. Evidence for the prosecution could not override the defence contention that death was sudden and unintended. Murder was commuted to manslaughter.


Simpson knew that women gripped by the neck in a pinning hold in a struggle to resist rape often died unexpectedly. He had heard the defendant plead, ‘I put my hands round her throat and she suddenly went limp,’ or ‘I tried to bring her round but she was dead.’ It was fragile and brief, the time it took to stop a heart, to lose a life. On an evening in March 1943, in what became known as the Tube shelter disaster, 173 men, women and children died at Bethnal Green Underground station. Simpson was their pathologist. The air-raid siren sounded prior to a bombing raid. The station was serving as a shelter. Pedestrians and local residents rushed into it. A woman and her child slipped at the bottom of the steps. Those behind could not stop. Bodies piled up. In his autopsies Simpson found that for many of the victims death from asphyxia had occurred within thirty seconds of their being crushed, though they had no wounds.


With strangulation the intention was usually to kill, facilitate rape or stifle cries for help. And the law was absolute: if evidence was acquired of intended felony, like rape or robbery, then no matter how unintended and speedy the death, it was murder.


The body on the slab before him at Borough Green mortuary on the night of 31 October 1946 unambiguously revealed signs of violence: strangulation marks, a fractured neck, a surface graze on the left cheek, a swollen left eyelid. The victim was sitting when strangled, then she slipped to her knees. Her closed right fist Simpson termed ‘cadaveric spasm’. It occurred at the moment of death as a reaction to violence.


He knew from the lividity, the deep stains on her buttocks, that she was seated upright for some time after she died. ‘When circulation stops,’ he wrote in his report, ‘blood settles into the lowest available vessels. Red corpuscles settle first and form within an hour a livid colour. Clotting fixes the stain.’ The surface on which she had been seated was hard. It was not rough ground, not an upholstered car. Her rigid corpse was dragged into those roadside bushes on that cold, dark, wet autumn morning. Barbed wire, twigs and brambles then grazed her already dead skin. Injuries caused after death, Simpson informed his students, all have one thing in common – they lack a vital reaction. ‘Abrasions harden like parchment without local flushing.’


He checked her clothes for hair, blood, semen, saliva, opened her body with a routine incision from chin to pubis. He worked methodically and took notes as he went. He examined her for signs of disease. She was for the most part healthy but had fibroid tumours in her womb. Bleeding from these had troubled her, so she had contrived a pad out of towelling and fastened it with a body belt. He wondered if medical records of these fibroids existed. He was mindful of one of his recent successes, the Dobkin Baptist Church cellar murder. On 17 July 1942 the dismembered, partly burned remains of a body were found by demolition workers under a cellar floor at the rear of a bombed Baptist church in Vauxhall in London. Simpson reconstructed these pieces into a woman 5 feet 1 inch tall, with greying dark-brown hair, aged forty to fifty and with a fibroid tumour of the womb. Police enquiries revealed that Mrs Dobkin, the estranged wife of the fire warden at the Baptist church, disappeared without explanation on Good Friday, 11 April 1941. A search of medical records showed she refused surgical treatment at two London hospitals for a fibroid tumour of the womb. Mr Dobkin was arrested. For eighteen years his wife had been pursuing him for arrears of maintenance.


Dr Simpson completed his dissection of the Wrotham Hill victim, then crudely stitched the body with large cross stitches. There was no healing now of the incision he had made, no cosmetic requirement for a neat scar. Inspector England went to the mortuary and took more photographs of the head and neck of the corpse. Simpson wrote up his report – the marks of violence, the cause of death – and late into the night handed his findings to Fabian at The Bull, Wrotham. In summary he told him the murder had definitely taken place elsewhere, the body had been dumped in the hedgerow, there were no indications of sexual assault and the woman was seated upright on an unupholstered surface for some considerable time after she died.


Fabian of the Yard


Fabian’s first task was to identify the murdered woman. By teleprinter he sent out a description from the Yard’s information room to police stations and the press: a woman’s body had been found in shrubbery at Wrotham Hill on the A20 road at noon on 31 October 1946. The suspected time of murder was between 5 and 8am that morning. There was no identification on her. She was aged about fifty. She had mid-brown hair, blue-grey eyes, a small scar under her left nostril and slightly protruding front teeth. She was wearing navy blue leather and suede shoes, a grey-blue coat with an orange lining, a dark blue frock, a blue and beige knitted jumper.


‘The murder of Sheila Martin must be taken into consideration while investigations are being made,’ Fabian wrote. ‘It is not beyond the bounds of possibility, but I don’t say it is so, that this murder is tied up with the murder of Sheila Martin.‘


Fabian and Dr Simpson knew each other well. Both exuded confidence and authority. Fabian was forty-five and had been a policeman more than half his life. He was tall, brilliantined his hair, wore a bowler hat, pocket handkerchief and army tie. He was born Robert Honey Fabian in January 1901. The Honey came from his maternal grandmother, Susanna Pinwill Honey. His parents were hard-working, lower middle class, respectable and struggled to better themselves. He was brought up in a small four-roomed flat in Lewisham in south-east London and shared a bedroom with his year-older brother Andrew. His paternal grandfather had been raised in an orphanage and his father, a Devon man, worked as an engineer’s fitter and hoped for his sons to become engineers with all the rewards and privileges of a well-paid white-collar job.


Robert Fabian trained as an engineering draughtsman but disliked the sedentary life. Inspired by his father’s friend Inspector Frederick Rolphe, in 1921 he applied to join the Lewisham police force. He fulfilled the necessary requirements: he was over twenty and under twenty-seven, five foot ten, weighed ten stone four, had 20/20 vision and was of British birth and pure British descent. He began at Vine Street police station behind the Piccadilly Hotel in London as a police constable, patrolling the area at the regulation rate of 2½ miles an hour.


He championed the bobby on the beat, was sceptical of new-fangled technology and dependence on radio-controlled patrol cars and prided himself on his familiarity with, and understanding of, the criminal class. He appeared personal and affable, as if he knew their mindset, problems and motivation. To extract confession he first won confidence and trust. He was the governor giving them his time – tea by the fire, cigarettes, a hot meal if desired. He had a way of ingratiating himself so the arraigned did not see conversation with him as a gamble for captivity or escape. He enjoyed the theatre of crime: the disguises and deceptions of a thief – front teeth blacked, false moustaches, the teasing game of extracting confession. He knew shicing meant welshing, a pimple and blotch was a Scotch and a pig’s ear a beer. He loved his criminals the way a farmer might love the livestock housed on his farm but then, relishing a roast, be unfazed by their journey to the abattoir. For the moral betterment of adolescent boys Fabian advocated more playing fields, ‘healthy alternatives to the street corner’, the censoring of gangster films and reintroduction of the birch.


He married Winifred Letitia Stockwell in 1925 and their only child, Peter, was born a year later. As children he and Winnie, as he called her, had lived a few streets away from each other. She was a practical woman, a home builder. She made her own hats. On one were two nesting doves.


Fabian was a conformist with censorious views about homosexuals and perverts. He called homosexuality ‘an offence against decency’ and thought it right that it was punishable by heavy imprisonment. ‘As a law-breaking act it is parallel with robbery with violence,’ he wrote. ‘You may walk the streets of London for months and never see an actual instance of robbery with violence. But there is not one night in London when – if you go to the right places – you will fail to see an example of persons soliciting to commit the offence of homosexuality.’ He became a good friend of the hangman Albert Pierrepoint, said gunmen always had grey eyes, and liked playing snooker and betting on the horses. For both work and pleasure he went to boxing and wrestling matches, ju-jitsu classes and places where crooks might gather: public houses, racecourses, transport cafés.


He described himself as having a ‘scavenging mind’ and after two years as a constable applied to join the CID. Attention to detail, speed of action and breadth of enquiry singled him out as an exceptional detective. He knew that seemingly futile checks might lead to a vital clue and that unlikely avenues were sometimes the revealing ones. Any information or observation, he learned, might be useful – the smattering of a foreign language, odd facts about company law. He became tuned to the inflection of a lie, the contracted pupils in a drug-taker’s eyes, the demeanour of the recidivist crook.


He soon became well known in the dives of Soho. He described prostitutes as innately wicked and morally derelict, but was on good terms with Battling Annie and Purple Lily, who carried out their business in West End apartments, lived respectably in the suburbs, worked hard and had business acumen. He was sorrowful about young people addicted to morphine, heroin or cocaine and scathing about pimps and drug peddlers. ‘Despicable men,’ he called them.


In 1929 he worked for eighteen months in the Criminal Record Office, where files were held on almost every known crook in Europe. There was an intricate cross-reference system: if a man was a burglar, had a club foot, a cleft palate, a scarred brow and crumbled his bread into pellets, such facts were noted and cross-filed along with names, aliases, age, height. Fabian studied the particulars of a hundred thousand convictions and copied details of cases into his private notebook. The work intrigued him and he had tireless enthusiasm for it. He perceived detection as an art and a science, and looked for patterns of offending, and defining features in different categories of crime. A good detective, in his view, needed both inspiration and the zeal for methodology of a chemist or physicist. Innocent until proven guilty was the determining rule: the imperative was empirical proof. Hunch and suspicion were useful but had to give way to the precision of evidence.


Though conscious of rank, as he rose in the force he affected humility and said a successful detective was only the coordinating element in a team that included pathologist, chemist, photographer, patrol car driver and reliable witness. He enjoyed the idea of the detective as hero and cases that created publicity for their drama, like Rudolph Franklyn who robbed an Oxford Street jewellery shop in daylight in September 1932. Fabian’s small-time criminal friends, the street seller of duff watches and George the match seller who drank wine mixed with methylated spirits, gave him the tip-off that led to arrest. ‘Franklyn received three years penal servitude and 20 strokes of the birch.’


In 1940 Fabian was awarded the King’s Medal for Gallantry for defusing seven gelignite bombs planted in brown paper parcels by the Irish Republican Army in Piccadilly Circus. He was flattered when a group of crooks whom he knew invited him to a bar to present him with a bronze medal on a blue silk ribbon. It was inscribed: To Inspector Bob Fabian, For Bravery, 24-6-39. From The Boys. They told him they had been ‘on the dilly’ that night and thought he saved their lives.


At the time of the Wrotham Hill murder Fabian, Winnie and their bulldog called Buller were living in Surrey. He enjoyed his growing reputation as a celebrity sleuth and gave gardening as his favourite hobby.


‘IN’ or ‘OUT’


Mrs Petrzywalski, known locally as Mrs Peters (her maiden name was Marshall and she was born in Clapham), was seventy-nine and lived in Houston, a bungalow in Hever Avenue on what was known as the Hever Estate, in the village of Kings-down, five miles from the murder scene. She was matronly in appearance, round faced, and always wore a hat and gloves when out.


On the morning of Friday 1 November 1946 she got up at seven. It was cold and her bungalow felt damp. She lit the paraffin stove and went down the front garden path to collect her Daily Telegraph from the box in the fence and to check if there was a note tucked there from her daughter Dagmar with a laconic reassurance written on it: IN. Dagmar lived in an adjacent hut. She was a solitary woman who liked her independence. Only rarely did Mrs Petrzywalski go inside her daughter’s hut, but they had an agreement that when Dagmar was out or in she would leave a note to say just that. There was no need to say where she had gone or why. Just the note. Just so her mother should know.


Mrs Petrzywalski’s husband Jules François had died seven months previously. They had lived in the village for fifteen years. He was buried in the serene graveyard of St Edmund’s church, Kingsdown, and etched on his tomb was ‘Jules F.R. Petrzywalski died 8 March 1946 aged 80’. Just family went to his funeral. Dagmar had walked to the church with her mother. Mrs Petrzywalski’s son Ralph was there with his wife Elena. So was her grandson Jules and his wife Phyllis though they were scarcely speaking to each other.


Looking after her husband had been hard for Mrs Petrzywalski and not only because of the war and the shortages, rationing, blackouts and air raids. He had needed constant care. Toward the end he became incomprehensible. His death had left her feeling afraid and purposeless, though he had been a rather unsatisfactory husband. And her son George, her eldest most dependable son, had died in 1944 from a heart attack on Charing Cross station. He was only fifty-five. Jules, his son, was a prisoner of war at the time, somewhere unknown in Russia. Through all those difficulties Dagmar had been her rock, even though she was not quite the daughter she had wanted and was undoubtedly odd and so much a law to herself.


By the gate there was only yesterday’s note in red ink OUT and no sign of life from her daughter’s hut. Mrs Petrzywalski supposed Dagmar had stayed overnight in Woking with Ralph and Elena. That was not usual. It was usual for her to go there and back the same day, but maybe the trains were bad or she had stayed to help with the new puppy she had bought that week and taken with her to give to them.


Mrs Petrzywalski read the paper with her morning tea. Reading the news, you wouldn’t believe the war was over: British soldiers blown up in Haifa; the British Embassy bombed in Rome; Jews fleeing Poland because of hatred against them . . . And October had been the wettest month of the year. But Winston Churchill was presented with the Freedom of the City of Birmingham – a scroll in a silver casket – in honour of his leadership during the war, and the Radio Corporation of America had demonstrated the first-ever colour television. This, their spokesman said, was ‘one of the greatest steps in the whole of radio science’.


And then there it was. Late news. Stop press. A paragraph about a murder. No signs of a struggle. No identification on her. A woman aged about forty to fifty, wearing a dark blue coat with an orange lining, dead behind a hedge at Wrotham Hill in Kent on the London to Maidstone road. Strangled. A lorry driver found her, alerted when he saw a blue shoe lying on the grass verge.


The woman was Dagmar, that her mother knew. She read the paragraph over with incredulity and alarm. The coat with the orange lining: that was Dagmar’s coat. Dagmar made it herself; they bought the orange satin together in Maidstone market, it wasn’t on the ration. Mrs Petrzywalski had thought it a bit bright with the dark blue but Dagmar liked it. She did not know who to tell. She did not have a phone: it cost £1 a quarter just for the rental and anyway her son Ralph hadn’t got one yet. There were 4 million phones in the country now, but they were for people with more money than she had. She left her tea and walked to the box at the corner of Hever Avenue to phone the police.


Dagmar Petrzywalski


At 9am Detective Sergeant Martin from Dartford police station told Superintendent Smeed of information received from a woman who had read an account of the murder in the Daily Telegraph and thought the description was of her daughter who had not returned home the previous evening.


A police car collected Mrs Petrzywalski and took her to West Malling police station. Fabian and Smeed coaxed information from her and tried to console her. Her distress was acute. She was shaking and kept saying she didn’t know what she would do. They showed her the coat with the orange lining, a blue shoe, a blue and beige hand-knitted jumper, a dark blue sleeveless frock. She wept. Yes, those were her daughter’s clothes.


They offered her tea which she refused and asked her if she needed to see a doctor, but she said she was all right. She told them her name was Mame Ann Petrzywalski, but people often called her Mrs Peters because it was easier for them. She lived at Houston, Hever Avenue and was a widow. Her husband had died that March after a long illness. Dagmar Petrzywalski was her only daughter, she wasn’t sure when she was born, she thought it was 1897. Anyway it was 25 October, that much she knew. Dagmar was single and lived alone in a hut on the plot of land adjacent to hers. She couldn’t think of anyone who would want to hurt her. No one would want to hurt her. No one in the world.


The first she knew of her being missing was when she went to collect her morning paper and there was only the note from the morning before with OUT written on it. Dagmar had undoubtedly left home early the previous day. She was going to Woking to visit her brother Ralph and her sister-in-law Elena. She often made that journey. She’d leave before dawn, then hitch a lift on a lorry because it was too early for the buses. She never accepted a lift in a private car. She didn’t think it safe. She’d have had with her a yellow string bag Elena crocheted for her as a birthday present and a little brown attaché case that she, Mame, had given her. She always took her sandwiches for the journey in that. The handle was broken and she’d fixed it with string. She’d have the Yale key to her hut with her of course, and her brown purse. And she always took a present of some sort for Elena: eggs from her chickens, or part of her butter or cheese ration.


She also had with her a little black and tan smooth-coated puppy. Three days ago, on Tuesday 29 October, she and Mame had gone together to Maidstone market. Mame bought the dog for herself, she paid 15 shillings for it, but on the Wednesday morning gave it to Dagmar because she couldn’t manage it. It was too much trouble. It yapped a lot. It kept her awake all night. She didn’t think Dagmar would keep it. She might have been intending to give it to Ralph and Elena.


Fabian asked her if Dagmar bought anything else at the market. Mame said she bought several bits and pieces: she paid a shilling for a man’s white woollen vest with a darn on the shoulder and said she might be able to make something out of it. The last time Mame had seen her daughter was on the Wednesday afternoon at about three. She had called for tea at Mame’s bungalow. Most days Dagmar called in for tea. She left after about an hour because she wanted to feed the chickens before it got too dark.


Fabian had coaxed enough detail out of Mame Petrzywalski to start investigating. It was of less immediate interest to him that Dagmar had worked in London for twenty-five years as a telephone operator for the Post Office or that five years ago she had taken early retirement because, as Mame put it, she wasn’t a strong girl, she suffered with her insides and physically could not do much. He also learned from Mame that Dagmar called her hut The Vic, had had it built five years ago after the London house she was in got bombed in the Blitz and that she lived in rented rooms in Swanley while it was being built.


Did You See Anything Suspicious?


Fabian ordered a check on all lorry drivers who used the A20 road at Wrotham Hill early in the morning of 31 October. He wanted to find that yellow string bag, the brown attaché case, the purse, the puppy. They had called the puppy Hedy, Mrs Petrzywalski told him, after the actress Hedy Lamarr. She and Dagmar had been up to see Hedy Lamarr in The Strange Woman at the London Pavilion, but they hadn’t had the dog long enough for it to know its name.


Fabian wondered why, if Dagmar was heading for Woking, her body should have turned up on the Maidstone side of Kingsdown, five miles down the road in the opposite direction to the route she would have taken.


Within an hour he sent police stations an update on his previous bulletin, with instruction for action:




The body is that of a woman who lived alone some miles from Wrotham and was in the habit of hitchhiking in lorries. The body is now believed to have been concealed before 07.00 hours on Thursday 31 October 1946. Urgent enquiries are requested to trace and interview all transport drivers who travelled between London and Maidstone between 5 and 8 am on 31 October 1946.





The same alert went into Scotland Yard’s newspaper the Police Gazette. Issued daily except for Sundays and bank holidays, it published photos and descriptions of wanted people and stolen goods.


At 3pm Detective Superintendent Smeed circulated a further message:




It appears probable that the deceased left her home at about 06.00 hours on the 31st October 1946 to go to London and she had with her a black smooth coated puppy dog. The puppy is missing. Also apparently missing is a homemade crocheted handbag, yellow, with single loop handle and zip fastener.





Traffic from all parts of the country used the A20, not just milk lorries and lorries for the London vegetable and flower markets. Detectives and uniformed constables nationwide were told to go into every one of 10,000 garages, haulage contractors, farms, delivery, vehicle hire and commercial firms and ask to see their journey books. Next morning, Saturday, before sunrise, Flying Squad officers waited at the London markets to question drivers. Early-morning lorries using the London to Maidstone road were flagged down by police and their drivers questioned by torchlight: ‘Were you on this road between five and eleven Thursday morning?’ ‘Did you see anything suspicious?’ ‘Did you see any vehicle pulled up near this spot?’ ‘Did you see anyone near the roadside?’ ‘Did you see any clothing on the road?’ ‘Did you see a yellow handbag?’ Thirteen hundred lorry drivers were questioned. There were checks on transport cafés. Smeed sent policemen to scour the hedges along Wrotham Hill for the yellow knitted bag, the attaché case, the purse, the dog, the keys.


Mindful of the unsolved Sheila Martin murder, CID officers were sent to question servicemen at the RAF station at West Malling, six miles from where Dagmar’s body was found. Smeed and Jenner went to Woking to break the news to Mrs Petrzywalski’s son Ralph, take him to Borough Green mortuary formally to identify his sister, then bring him on to West Malling for questioning. Murder by strangers was rare. Usually it was someone known to the victim. Everyone was a suspect until the killer was caught, but particularly family members and friends.


Ralph Petrzywalski: Friday 1 November 1946


Dagmar’s brother Ralph was a civil servant, a quiet-living man who did The Times crossword each day and kept a distance from his sister, whom he viewed as moody. He was forty-nine – a year older than she was. There had been a coolness between them since Dagmar’s London lodgings were bombed in the Blitz in 1941. Traumatised, she came to stay with him and his family and wanted to make this a permanent arrangement while the war raged. It made her afraid to live alone in the centre of London when hundreds of people were killed or injured each night in air raids, but her job was there and she needed a home. Ralph had said no. He just had not wanted it and thought it would upset his married life. He said she must find lodgings elsewhere. After that rejection Dagmar had the hut built in Hever Avenue.


Neither he nor his wife were expecting a visit from her on Thursday 31 October 1946. She seldom gave warning of a call. She just turned up, usually at a disconcertingly early hour. In Friday’s paper they too read news of the murder and feared it was Dagmar. Ralph did not go to work and they were unsurprised by the arrival of a police car, mid-morning, at their house in Triggs Lane, Woking.


Ralph told Smeed and Jenner he last saw Dagmar two weeks previously on 18 October, a week before her forty-eighth birthday. It had been an unremarkable visit. She arrived, as ever unexpectedly, at two minutes to eight in the morning. He was about to leave for work. She told them she left Kingsdown at 5am, got a lift on a lorry to London, then bought a workman’s train ticket to Woking. She always tried to be in time for those tickets, on sale up to 8am and half the usual price. Saving pennies mattered and she was careful with her money. She told Elena her mother did not know of her visit that day. She and Elena stayed in the house until noon. Elena gave her, as her birthday present, the bag she had crocheted in yellow string and in the afternoon they went shopping together, then Dagmar went home by train and bus.


Ralph was taken to identify the corpse. Mrs Petrzywalski had not felt able to look at her daughter’s dead body and Fabian viewed this as an unsuitable task for a woman. Jenner drove Ralph to the mortuary at Borough Green. Ralph formally identified his sister in the presence of him and Smeed, then made and signed a statement: He was Ralph Petrzywalski, aged 49, a civil servant. The body was that of his sister Dagmar. She was born on 25 October 1898. She was a spinster. She had worked as a General Post Office telephonist for twenty-five years, then retired early because of ill health. She lived on her GPO pension and modest capital. She was reserved and had no close friends. He had not seen her since 18 October when she had called at his house. He knew of no one who might want to harm her.


Smeed sent Ralph’s fingerprints to Chief Inspector Birch at the fingerprint bureau at New Scotland Yard. Birch classified them and checked the files but found nothing to match them.


The Hever Estate: Friday 1 November 1946


Among the villagers on the Hever Estate at Kingsdown there was much talk of this murder. Kingsdown was thought to be a safe place to live. Selling bags of coal short, cheating with ration books, those were the bad things that happened.


There was fear the murderer would kill again. Hilda Taylor, who lived with her parents next door to Dagmar and Mame Petrzywalski, was sixteen and worked in London. It was November and the evenings were dark when she came home. She got the train to Farningham station, then a bus to the corner of Hever Avenue. When she got off the bus there were no street lights, it was an unmade road, there were trees and shrubs and few houses. In fear the murderer would leap at her from behind the bushes she kept to the middle of the track and ran with her heart pounding.
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